
Chapter VII  


BREAKING UP A DEMOCRATIC PARTY, 1915-1917

German Social Democracy did not come apart due to mysterious forces; it did not collapse according to a predictable pattern and process.
  It broke apart because of a new situation and because the leaders could not adjust to it.  Practices which had upheld unity could not function during this war.  Previous to the war, representation from the diverging factions existed in all party institutions and received a hearing in official party statements.  Collegiality had been the norm and a degree of isolation had resulted for those who would not practice it.  During the war this trademark of classical Social Democracy disintegrated under the weight of the symbolic war credits fights.  Behind that fight lay differences about relations to the state and to the nation, about relations to the old elites and about how to achieve peace and social change.  As party leader Ebert, usually presented as an upholder of unity, contributed to the party's break up, because he too undercut the pre-war practices.

The internal process of the party's disintegration paralleled the external efforts of the party's opponents. The military, state officials and other party leaders utilized censorship, arbitrary application of the state of siege rules and misinformation against Social Democracy.  This overlooked aspect of the break-up of the world's largest social democratic party needs to be redressed.

 
The split of German labor occurred within the larger context of the international break-up of labor movements into modrate and radical socialist as well as communist groups between 1916 and 1922.  Some rearrangement would have occurred in Germany as elsewhere because of the world war and the Russian Revolution.  Given that context, an individual's role should not be overemphasized at the expense of general developments.  However, the fault lines in Germany followed the actions of the party leaders and their use, and misuse, of the party institutions and organizations built over many years.  The pre-war mechanisms of unity no longer functioned because the leadership itself took sides and split.  In this process Friedrich Ebert played a decisive part because by 1915 he held most of Social Democracy's important posts. How he used his positions and his authority drastically affected party unity. Hence, he must share responsibility for German labor's division and political weakening.

In addition to an active role in fatefully splitting the German labor movement, a number of fundamental shifts in Ebert's political outlook occurred during 1915-1917. The acceptance of the German state and the transfer of the socialists' concept of enemy--from a focus upon the German state and the bourgeoisie in all forms to a focus upon the 'extremes' of Left and Right in German society as well as on enemy countries--allowed Ebert's patriotism and his personal dislike of leading SPD radicals to buttress his political preferences.
  As the main proponent and defender of SPD executive policies, Ebert used his legal and administrative skills to fight his opponents within the party, while not letting the German Right out of his gun sights.  In that sense Ebert contributed decisively to setting up the new stance of German Social Democracy at the center of German political life. Only through that shift would the SPD become a potential ally for the liberals and Catholics in a push for parliamentary democracy during 1917. Though others in the party, especially Eduard David and Adolf Mueller, or trade union leaders like Karl Legien and Gustav Bauer, advocated a policy of alliance with parts of the bourgeoisie, Ebert’s special role related to the tactics of the shift and its timing. 

 
The process by which Social Democracy disintegrated altered what had been primary within the movement and affected the methods and norms by which party politics operated.  The collective leadership, the representation--if not full toleration--of all factions and the general openness of conferences and meetings gave way to a more personal rule, including to intolerance of those with differing views and to increased secretive consultations.  The reality as well as the appearance of a 'neutral' leadership, above the party factions, disappeared.  That this occurred precisely as Ebert became the most significant person within the executive underscores how much he and his party were changed by the war.

Relations to the state

In 1917 Ebert told the party's congress that "Unsere Stellung zum Staat war meist der Ausgangspunkt unserer Meinungskämpfe."
 That claim would have been more accurate had he noted that it was the shifting attitude toward the state that was the cause of dispute, as his own case exemplified. Before the war he and most members of the SPD had had an ambivalent attitude toward the state. In its Prussian-military form he had seen it as the bulwark of reaction, but hoped that in the future the state would become an arbiter above parties and interest groups.  During the war Ebert came to accept the need for a strong German state; one that would, as he told the 1917 party congress (with rhetoric reminiscent of prewar terminology to maintain member support), "den Hebel der Staatsmaschine den kapitalistischen Händen zu entreißen und den großen proletarischen Aufgaben dienstbar zu machen."  

Between 1915 and 1917, in parliamentary committees, in consultations with the government about the war situation and in an increasing identification with the territorial and economic interests of Imperial Germany, Ebert and his colleagues in the SPD leadership, came to accept the existing state--in its interventionist wartime form--though they continued to press for parliamentarization and democratization within it.

One element in this process of accepting the German state took the form of Social Democratic leaders' trust in Bethmann Hollweg.  Why they extended such trust to this individual remains a puzzle, similar to Prince Max von Baden in late 1918.  Bethmann undoubtedly tried to utilize the war to create a new basis for political life in Germany.  However, that basis cannot be thought of as a progressive one--only one that would strengthen the existing state, expand German territory and internally buttress the military as opposed to other aspects of the old Prussian elite.  In this new politics the populist-demagogic element of the nationalist movement, such as the Pan-Germans, was to be pushed aside and a link to labor substituted. Labor was assigned a subsiduary position in the new scheme. The specific role proposed for Social Democracy remained unclear, since Bethmann's political adviser, Riezler, considered parliament outdated.
  

To this chancellor and his entourage the unions and Social Democratic leaders extended an inordinate confidence; this was the same person who as Minister of the Interior and as Chancellor had helped halt social legislation before the war.  The puzzle of how this philosopher-manipulator politician so gained the trust of the political left can only partly be answered by the labor leaders' patriotism.

  
In Ebert's case, like Scheidemann, he seems to have come to the acceptance of Bethmann due to the way in which the chancellor spoke to all members of the Reichstag at the decisive August 4 session, consulted with the party leaders during the July Crisis--even though he was seeking to control them--and conveyed the idea that he sought a negotiated peace.
  Ebert, like others, was misled since Bethmann shared at least some of the territorial aims of the military and certainly, for the first two years of the war, did not undertake any significant peace initiatives. Caught up in his belief that this was a war of defence, Ebert ended by defending Bethmann and the German state, even while constantly maintaining that the votes in favour of war credits were not votes of confidence in the present system.

The trend toward acceptance of the state by Ebert shows in the changing terminology and content of speeches to his constituency, for instance, how he explained the origins and responsibility for the outbreak of the war.  Speaking in Elberfeld during January 1915 Ebert asserted that the origins of the war lay in "the driving forces of the capitalistic economic system".
 In July 1916 he repeated that the "deeper roots of this war lay in world-capitalistic developments".
  However, already in January 1915 the responsibility for decisions and events was placed at the doorstep of "British imperialism" which sought to "push back German competitiveness"
. At that time, after noting the common interests of the French and Russian capitalists, Ebert emphasized that "obviously German imperialism was not angelically pure" and he concluded that all versions were equally evil.  By July 1916, however, Ebert asserted that "the German government was not to blame" for starting the war.
  In March 1917 Ebert found the origins of the war in the economic conflict between Britain and Germany, an economic conflict which the British had exploited by "cunning diplomacy".  The Entente was seen as fighting a "war of destruction" against Germany:  "If the Entente pursues a war of destruction to the end, then a peace would emerge which would mean a terrible economic fate for our economy and our workers.  Therefore we stand by our land, by our people, by our laborers on the basis of a defense of the country."
  From equal blame and a German war of defense, Ebert had in two years arrived at the position that Britain was the prime initiator of the war and the prime enemy of the German working class.

A closer look at such speeches shows another aspect of Ebert's acceptance and defense of the German state. In 1915 and early 1916 he defended the party's stance but always distanced himself from the government: "The vote in favour of war credits cannot be seen as a vote of confidence in the government."
  Yet, by July 1916 he was defending the chancellor as having sought a negotiated peace and maintaining "that if the Chancellor had followed a policy such as the Pan-Germans demanded, the Social Democrats would have decisively opposed him."
  Ebert emphasized that the chancellor had repeatedly announced his preparedness to make peace but "the foreign statesmen reply that they will continue until Germany is completely destroyed."  He added that Bethmann's "explanations could not be questioned."

Ebert's assumption that to be defeated in the war would harm German laborers undoubtedly had substance: "Worse than war would be defeat".
  The public acknowledgement in early 1916 by the English and French leaders that the world war had among its purposes to hamper Germany's economic competitiveness, certainly provided ammunition for Ebert and his colleagues, who wanted to believe in the rightness of a war of defense.  The foreigners and the Pan-Germans could be blamed for not wanting to end the slaughter.  They became the main enemies for Ebert as he sided with the German government's version of the war's origins and lack of success in searching for peace.  

The way he saw the war and explained it to himself and his colleagues resulted in Ebert accepting the need for German strength.  He repeatedly rationalized that without a strong German state the interests of labor within an internationally competitive world--tariffs, wages and working conditions--could not be defended.  Those workers' interests were seen as tied to the national economy which the state had to defend.

Inside Germany's borders too Ebert looked to a strong state to defend labor's interests.  The activities within the Reichstag committees and the parliamentary work by union and Social Democratic leaders during the war have received too little attention from historians.
 In particular, the attempt to push the state into ever greater social responsibilities has not been credited enough as the means by which unions and SPD worked with the state while trying to do something for the workers; this contained many of the origins of the Weimar welfare state.[add Crew fn] To illustrate: in March 1915 Ebert, together with Hoch, Wurm, Simon, Schmidt and Quark made a concerted effort to affect food prices and to gain support for the war needy.
  Ebert spoke about increased usury.  To improve the situation he called for maximum prices for flour and bread, price limits to and confiscation of potatoes.  When the Social Democrats were accused by state officials and liberals of complaining too much, plus painting a picture which did not coincide with reality, the socialists affirmed their viewpoint with specific examples, as well as emphasizing that their right to criticize would not stop at the boots of the military leaders.  Ebert and his colleagues had to fight the idea of proof of "Bedürftigkeit" (means tests for need) and the lack of appeal system against bureaucrats' decisions.
  Ebert was one among many in such efforts. 


As a party leader Ebert, along with Haase, had often taken up political cases, such as when a SPD deputy was extradited from Alsace-Lorraine or Polish workers were involuntarily being moved to Germany.
  Others, such as Stücklen, who was responsible for collecting complaints from soldiers, pointed to the military's attempts at indoctrination as well as its unjust treatments and punishments.  Most important Stücklen could point out during August 1915 that in Bavaria the military forbade visits to certain pubs "in denen [allegedly] staats- und militärfeindliche Parteien Zusammenkünfte abhalten."
  The pre-war discrimination had not ended.

In the appeals for a just state Ebert's special area in regard to the food situation related to potatoes, and about that basic foodstuff he could demonstrate the consequences of inadequate controls.
   This type of committee work constantly gave the Social Democrats an opportunity to be critical and therefore helped them to retain their following and their militant image. Even if they attained few improvements, their rear guard action kept ideals alive.  The passionate concern about the populace appeared also in demands for increased pay for soldiers and in Ebert's calls "wonach die Gemeinden verpflichtet werden, in irgendeiner Form etwas zu tun". Questions about "Pflegekinder"  continued Social Democracy's old struggles for social justice.
  Its traditional political fight for "die Demokratisierung des ganzen deutschen Reiches" too received a hearing in this work.
   The public knowledge that the SPD represented soldiers' complaints and interests resulted in the party receiving so many submissions and appeals for aid that it had to open a special office within the caucus to handle them.
  Certainly, as has been argued by Gerald Feldman among others, this committee work integrated the German labor movement into German society and linked it with the existing state. However, this was a society and state undergoing transformations.  

The party executive's actions in relation to the state and Ebert's rationale about those actions, illustrate well his strategic thinking and social assumptions during wartime.  On November 12, 1914 the executive put out a secret circular to the regional leaders.  It explained that since the beginning of the war the executive had worked together with the union leadership to protect those with low incomes from the drastic effects of war.  Specific demands had been formulated and passed to the government. "Was bisher von der Regierung unternommen wurde, ist aber durchaus ungenügend; ein Teil der Masßnahmen fordert sogar lebhaften Protest heraus.  Das gilt besonders für die erfolgte Festsetzung von Höchstpreisen für Brotgetreide."
  The executive and the unions had also complained to the government and negotiated unsuccessfully regarding potato prices.  To the regional party organizations the executive suggested public meetings be held with demands for communal and state action.  Through orchestrating such meetings the party leadership tried to illustrate to the public that it worked for its members and pressured the government to change the way state and society dealt with social problems.  The meetings were coordinated with demands for change within Reichstag committees.

Ebert led one of those public meetings which protested prices and tried to pressure the government. During January 1915 he argued that the German economy had generally withstood the test of war. He coupled the new-found belief in the virtues of the German economy with two further claims.  First, the economic mobilization of the population had socially "failed in many ways", including an "increase of hardship" on the populace.
  Here he pointed to the efforts of the unions and party to force the government into corrective action.  Second, he re-affirmed old beliefs by claiming that the government found to its dismay that wartime actions had "to have a strong socialist aspect" if they were to accomplish anything.

  
State intervention was being equated with socialism.  Ebert's January 1915 speech continued with the demand that state intervention be used to solve hoarding, employment, housing and other social problems.  He proposed that this type of social legislation be retained after the war.  

Ebert's thinking reflected a renewed emphasis upon social policy.  Yet, the struggle against the state and big business was different than before the war, in that Social Democracy now sought to increase the state's power to intervene and impose social legislation, whereas before the war the German state had not been trusted with the populace's needs.  When Ebert spoke to the same issues two years into the war he appeared more convinced of his new beliefs.  Though retaining some critical distance from the government by arguing that what had been undertaken in this sphere was insufficient, Ebert again advocated retaining the principle of the central direction of the economy.
  Proudly he claimed that within the foodstuffs committee of the Reichstag he had strongly advocated a more just distribution system.  In later presentations Ebert repeated the shortcomings of the government but also defended its efforts and continued to advocate further intervention by a strengthened state.  That state, he argued, should not back away from dispossession of property in order to equalize the burden of war.
  

By November 1917 Ebert defended the German state; a state in which he claimed democratization was on the march.  Taking over this state--politically reformed, of course--had become the aim, as opposed to breaking its powers.  The social legislation which had been created before the war, the interventionist principles which supposedly had proven themselves during the war--these internal gains were to be maintained through the strengthened state.  Ebert defended this pattern of thinking even in cities where party radicals dominated and he knew it would not be readily accepted, namely in his Reichstag constituency and in Bremen.  Yet he probably calculated that his new beliefs were shared by many workers, namely those who saw in such critiques the continued militancy of the SPD and who continued to adhere to its ranks precisely because the social legislation and actions of an interventionist state protected them during a critical economic situation.

Ebert had come to these beliefs well before the possibility of an alliance with the bourgeois parties existed during 1917.  He may have seen a potential ally in the Catholic Center whose social- political approach also tended toward reliance on a strong central authority.  However, the Progressives and National Liberals had very different ideas on economic principles.  They wanted the state out of the economy once the war was won.  By collaborating with the liberals after mid-1917 the SPD gained political allies but economic foes. Ebert's étatist thinking led to potentially serious contradictions since the liberal state bureaucrats (Solf, Cuno, Schiffer) and liberal party leaders (Haußmann, Payer, Naumann) with their ties to finance, light industry, shipping (Ballin, Warburg, Melchoir, Merton) wanted the interventionist state to disappear.  During the Revolution of 1918-19, especially on demobilization and state employment policies, those contradictions would surface and hamper Social Democratic actions.  The changed beliefs and values Ebert expressed on the German state during the war were not shared by the SPD's potential allies among the bourgeois parties.

Destroying Collegiality

Ebert and his executive colleagues had advocated a nearly passive policy after August 4, 1914.  They supported the war effort, arguing Germany fought a defensive war and that Germany's security was at risk.  When the right to voice differences of opinion had been reinstated during January 1915 the executive still demanded public unity and unified voting in favour of war credits.  Against all attempts to initiate some international action, Ebert and the executive majority tried to wait for a commitment of mutual activity from the Entente socialists.  Ebert's executive colleague Haase complained about his frustrations: "daß wir die Passivität nicht mehr lange ertragen können."
  David recorded on March 31 and April 3, 1915 that Ebert "fest sei in dem Entschluß, keine Friedensaktion einseitig nur von Deutschland aus zuzulassen..." und "in der Friedenssache es vorläufig zu keinem internationalen Beschluß kommen zu lassen."
  This inactivity supposedly demonstrated the executive’s neutralit, above factions and acting only to maintain the unity and the safety of the party organizations.  The pre-war mechanisms by which unity had been maintained were still being utilized.  That was why Ebert, as well as Braun and Müller, found the factional clashes in locals, such as Stuttgart and Bremen, so worrisome.
  Those clashes hinted that the old practices might not survive.  

The initiatives by dissenters in the caucus also placed the executive majority under pressure.  The actions of Haase, Ledebour, Liebknecht and others during the spring of 1915 brought the differences into the open and a new kind of party fight, with the executive publicly taking sides, emerged. 

Did Ebert have the right to play the innocent, supposedly affronted by Haase, who made his differences with his executive colleagues public, without even warning the executive?  Did Haase announce the end of executive's traditional unitary and collegial operations in an underhanded manner? 

By March 1915, within most party institution, knowledge of the leaders’ differences on war credits amounted to common knowledge.  Between November 1914 and February 1915, in the caucus, in the federal council and in the control commission Ebert and Haase had outlined their stances in favor of, or in opposition to, the policy of August 4.  By then the neutral-country socialists too knew about the differences because Ebert had opposed, and Haase had favored, some international initiative at the Haag in March 1915.

During late February 1915 Ebert, under pressure from David, began to reconsider his tactics.  Knowing Ebert's concern about party unity David tried to convince him that "Zusammenleimen-wollen" would fail.
  On March 19 Ebert privately declared himself, according to David, for a "kläre, reformistische Taktik mit Abweisung aller revolutionären Versuche; jedoch werde er fest am 'Klassenkampf' halten".
  

This secret admission occurred at the same time as Ebert argued before the caucus that it had to vote in favor of the budget, because the war made all budgets exceptional.
  Ebert, along with the executive colleagues who shared his perspective, had prepared the ground for the caucus vote by getting the federal council to favor both war credits and the budget.
  All of this was normal political manoeuvring. Significantly, the delegation of speaking assignments in the Reichstag still followed the old pattern of letting all factions have some representation.  Thus Haase and Scheidemann were selected and they followed the texts of speeches agreed upon within the caucus in March 1915.  Stadthagen and Ledebour, however, utilized their presentations on censorship and exceptional laws to assail the German military.  This incensed Ebert enough to yell that Ledebour did not speak on the party's behalf.
  To restore the appearance of public unity, Scheidemann received instructions from the caucus to declare that Ledebour had spoken as a private person.  What had started as a mild critique of the military, upon which all caucus members supposedly agreed, had led to recriminations because of the fashion of its presentation.  One observer commented, "Die Verhältnisse in der Fraktion sind scheußlich".
  They were not better in the executive.

Since he so identified with the party and personally very touchy, Ebert had difficulty accepting the opposition's outbursts in the Reichstag, and in the Prussian Landtag.  On April 3 he informed David about plans for two momentuous steps: "Ebert sei entschlossen, die Abrechnung mit Haase usw. auf den nächsten Parteitag in den Bezirksorganizationen vorzubereiten.  Er hat den Gedanken ausgesprochen, in Berlin ein Abendblatt als Zentralorgan einzurichten mit einer glänzenden Redaktion und so den Vorwärts auszuschalten..."
  The secret police too knew of efforts by executive members to work at the local level against the opposition.
  How Ebert intended to do this remains unclear, yet such endeavors generally fit within traditional party norms for persuading members, except that previously the executive members’ role had been to contain such in-fighting while now executive members were fostering it.

Haase and his compatriots were as busy organizing local support as Ebert and his confidents. After Haase spoke in opposition to war credits and the war during April 1915, in Nürnberg and Frankfurt, David counselled Ebert to counter-attack.
  Ebert correctly replied that Haase had the right to voice his viewpoint.  David then tried to persuade Ebert the "Rechte und Mitte zusammenzuhalten und den offiziellen Apparat in den Dienst der Mehrheitspolitik zu stellen."
  Ebert only agreed to consider David's proposal for a series of leaflets and a declaration on peace.  On May 7 the party executive, at Ebert's request, agreed to prepare such a declaration.  On May 17 Ebert reported to the caucus on the executive's efforts to contact the Entente socialists and the caucus agreed to the proposed declaration because it would demonstrate what the party had undertaken to foster peace.
  

Ebert's cautious efforts in the peace question and his reluctance to alter the collegial approach to leadership kept surfacing.  At the end of May, after much persuasion, Ebert agreed to hold the main Reichstag speech.  At first he refused because the caucus executive had not yet voted when both he and Haase had been proposed.  David had swayed him and commented on "Wesensgegensatz zwischen ihm und Haase: [Ebert's] innere Scheu und feinfühlige persönliche Zurückhaltung, im Gegensatz dazu: Chudzpe."
  David mis-estimated Haase because he undervalued the latter's desire for peace which Haase had expressed so passionately to the control commission during February.  David was right though on the profound differences between the two leaders.  Knowing that within the executives of the party and the caucus he was in a minority, how would Haase answer the question he had posed to the control commission: "Wie können wir alle ohne Ausnahme für den Frieden eintreten?"
 Haase’s answer came in response to a petition.

In mid-June a large group of party functionaries and Reichstag deputies answered Haase's question by publishing a petition for action on peace addressed to the party and caucus executives, and simultaneously circulated to the party press and regional organizations.  It attacked the caucus' policy of August 4 and the executive's lack of action against the war.  David drafted a reply but he did not want a combined meeting of the party and caucus executives to discuss it until Ebert returned from a week's rest in the mountains.
  

Hardly had the first shock wave of this public action subsided than Haase screwed up his courage and together with Kautsky and Bernstein published "Das Gebot der Stunde".
  Haase later revealed that Bethmann's confidential hints, at a consultation with party leaders during April, that Belgium would never be released from Germany's control, had affected his thinking.
  According to the "Gebot" manifesto, Social Democracy had reached a turning point because the political Right openly advocated annexations and six major economic organizations supported grandiose territorial gains. Could the party continue to stand side by side with such people?  Could it continue to accept the barbaric slaughter?  

Haase's public declaration threw a match into the tinder box of strained relations.  Haase's statement came as confidential party information surfaced in the foreign press and party offices were being utilized to organize pro and contra war groupings.  The majority of the executive immediately and publicly accused Haase of not having put forward his proposals inside the party and of not having any basis for such a pronouncement.  Ebert, who had been absent, added his disapproval next day.
  Haase responded in public by pointing out that many members of the executive had for months presented their viewpoints to the party public.  Once more the executive majority publicized its disapproval of Haase's action.  These public exchanges demonstrated to the whole party that a majority of the party and caucus executives (Ebert, Scheidemann, Müller, Braun, Molkenbuhr, Bartels, Gerisch, David, Fischer, Pfannkuch) favored, whereas a minority (Haase, Hoch, Wengels, Zietz), opposed war credits. 

What made matters worse was that the party executive had a declaration on peace ready, and Haase knew it.  That action had been initiated by the absent Ebert, and that easily affronted person could perceive Haase's manifesto as an attempt to pull leadership of the party back toward himself. The executive's peace declaration included a demand that the chancellor state his preparedness to enter peace negotiations.  Further the executive had prepared a memorandum to the chancellor asking for clarity on annexations.  What angered Ebert and his colleagues about Haase's going public was that they had made an effort and Haase was undercutting it by his dramatic publication.
 

The majority of the executive turned to the machine which it had repeatedly used to legitimize its perspective, the federal council.  On June 30 and July 1, 1915 it met under Ebert's direction.  He shrewdly stayed in the background since it would not be proper for one chairperson to appear against the other.  Müller and Scheidemann led the coordinated effort to seek condemnation of a public stance which did not befit a party chairperson.  

A résumé of Müller's presentation can provide insight on the atmosphere in the party, the strategy by which the majority of the executive defended its stance and the manner by which the executive presented itself to the party public to retain support. Müller began with potato prices so as to be able to point out that the "Eingabe" of April 9 had so forthrightly attacked the government that it had been censored.  Furthermore, the executive planned to distribute speeches by Wurm and Braun on the same topic of price speculation and hoarding as pamphlets.  The critical distance from the state on social issues, which the executive had established in the fall of 1914, was underscored.  The tactic amounted to Müller holding up a placard reading: we remain critical and are victimized.  Next Müller reviewed the hindrances to any mutual action with the French and British socialists.  As expected he laid the blame for inactivity on the Entente socialists, though their moderate language could offer a lesson to "unsere Opposition in Deutschland, die in der gehässigsten Weise ihre Kundgebungen abzufassen beliebt..."
  Müller emphasized that the German socialists remained ready for a peace action and pointed to the executive's declaration which had been proposed by Ebert on May 7. Simultaneously, a memorandum against annexations had been formulated so the government knew the SPD's stance.  The peace declaration had been published and resulted in many newspapers being forbidden.  Müller pointed out that the intentions to undertake these acts had been transmitted to the caucus, the editors' conference and the control commission: "Alle Korperschaften waren darüber erfreut.  Unsere Absichten hatten allgemeine Zustimmung gefunden; es schien Hoffnung vorhanden auf eine Gesundung der Parteiverhältnisse."  Then the surprise petition by the functionaries appeared on June 9.  Müller accused the opposition of having a network across the country, of releasing confidential information, of rumor-mongering.  He noted that the executive had still unanimously agreed to a counter statement on the petition.  Against claims that the party majority secretly worked with the government, Müller referred to the assurance given by the executive to the federal council that it only brought forward "Wünschen und Beschwerden".  That claim was false but Müller may not have known what Südekum, David and Heine undertook on their own in the name of Social Democracy.  Müller continued by stating that these accusations had been followed by Haase's common declaration with Kautsky and Bernstein which undermined party unity.  Müller reiterated that Haase had the right to his opinions, but that he had not tried to convince the members within institutions in which he sat to act in the manner he advocated.  On the executive's behalf Müller stated, "Wir werden uns solche selbst-herrliche Allüren nicht gefallen lassen.  Parolen die als Gebot der Stunde zu geben sind, müssen im Parteivorstand vorberaten werden, der dafür die Verantwortung trägt. Wir dulden keine Nebenregierung."
  Müller insisted that the contents too were wrong since the SPD did not stand on the side of the "Eroberungspolitiker".  He called for unitary efforts to counter the opposition's underhanded methods because otherwise the danger existed that the party right-wingers too would create "Sonderorganizationen".  


Haase replied curtly against "Entrustung".  He too wanted party unity and regretted the present attitudes.  But the dissatisfaction in the party had to be vented; at issue was the character of the war and the ruling class was engaged in an annexationist war.  In response Scheidemann carefully turned the discussion back to how Haase had surprised the executive.  Haase had participated in an executive meeting on May 20, then appeared in the office only once before June 21, though not on executive matters but to participate on June 12 in a caucus meeting.  He had not warned his colleagues and his declaration must make the world think "bei uns der kollegiale Beisein merkwürdige Formen angenommen..."

At this crucial federal council meeting some members acknowledged that throughout the party the demand for opposition to war credits was growing.  Many pointed out that Scheidemann, like Haase, had made public pronouncements.  Some effort against the war, some leadership from the executive was necessary.  Accusations about the executive using the party institutions against the opposition and about Scheidemann keeping Stampfer from being conscripted were thrown about.  In the end the motion to condemn Haase's action passed.  Haase's poor timing and his intransigent defense of the manifesto had brought unsure executive members like Molkenbuhr, Pfannkuch and Bartels to Ebert's side. 

Haase's indecision and then his precipitous actions gave Ebert the possibility of appearing to be the affronted. In actuality, Ebert too had acted in a biased fashion as he tried to maintain the appearance of 'neutrality'.  The end of the civil truce meant that a war of words for control of members' consciences had started.  It would be fought with unequal weapons since Ebert's side had a majority in the executives, caucus, council and unions.  Parts of the press, in particular Vorwärts and Neue Zeit, sided with the opposition.  The youth and women’s organizations tended toward the opposition.  However, what was the stance of the locals and the members?  Rosa Luxemburg's proposed way of finding out, namely a party congress, had been rejected.  

Both sides made concerted efforts to win caucus members.  They operated in two ways: by appealing to the individual Reichstag member and by meetings in the constituencies.  The appeal to individual members to hold to the August 4 policy or to favor opposition took many forms.  In the caucus and federal council during the summer of 1915 the executive tried to have resolutions passed which specified its peaceful intentions.  At the local level it attempted the same, for example during July 1915 Ebert attended the conference of northwestern organizations.  He argued against Henke, one of the radicals from Bremen, and Ebert succeeded in having a resolution passed in favor of war credits.
  In August Ebert spoke in Elberfeld-Barmen to explain the position of the majority on the war.
  The tour through dissenting and supporting organizations brought him into contact with attitudes beyond Berlin.  In August Ebert explained to a caucus colleague that he had to operate carefully to maintain a majority since more deputies had altered their stance.
  At that time 68 favored while 31 opposed credits; a year previously it had been 78 to 14.  David lamented Scheidemann's and Ebert's "Unentschiedenheit", not appreciating that the leaders tried to act as moderators so as to keep majority support.
  


During the fall of 1915 Ebert's life involved endless meetings and repeated struggles to define positions which might get the government to commit itself and ease pressure on the party. Together with the unions the SPD hammered away at the food situation.
  Ebert, with Scheidemann, David and Schöpflin, visited the western front between September 17 and 25 to check complaints sent to Reichstag representatives by soldiers.  What impression Lille, the Belgian coast, Roubaix, Ghent, Brussels, Mons, Charleroi and other areas of destruction made upon someone who had three conscripted sons cannot be established.  But, knowing the actual situation would have helped the Social Democrats' work on behalf of workers' and soldiers' interests.

As the party made its position on war aims and peace initiatives more precise during the fall of 1915, the factions jockeyed for advantages.  Haase's group thought that the minority was winning caucus members and would eventually become the majority.

  
The impasse broke at the end of 1915 when the caucus voted speakers for the next Reichstag session.  Since its views were no longer receiving a hearing, Simon moved for the minority to have the right to speak in the Reichstag.  The motion was rejected 68 to 29; a motion by Bauer explicitly stating that a separate statement by the minority would harm party unity was accepted 70 to 27.  To become the party spokesmen Scheidemann and Landsberg received 62 and 75 votes, while Haase received only 47. The two chances to speak went to members from the majority.
 

The majority's intolerance meant no public hearing for the minority.  Ebert, who previously had tried to bridge the various groups, now argued in favor of the new course.
  He no longer employed his authority to maintain past practice and toleration of dissenting views.  How difficult the shift was for Ebert appeared in that when the government did not clearly answer questions on its intentions some caucus members wanted to reconsider their votes and Ebert too wavered.
  By then some opposition members had decided to act.  Having been muzzled within the caucus some minority members refused to adhere to party discipline and stated their intention to vote against credits in December.  Haase informed the caucus executive that he would not, then that he would, join the dissidents.  Out of 44 members who opposed credits 20 broke party discipline and voted against; the rest were absent or abstained. 

In this situation Ebert and Haase duelled for the hearts of caucus' members.  Much amounted to rationalization, but their explanations show why the war had made working together impossible.  Both presentations to the important caucus meeting of December 20, 1915 were masterly.  In the party this debate demonstrated Ebert's control and Haase's desperate attempt to at least carry a moral torch out of his failure to gain a majority in the caucus.  Haase argued that it was necessary to present publicly why one-third of the caucus opposed the war.  The whole world knew about the differences of opinion, and what if the minority becomes majority? Would the new minority then not want the right to publicly state its views?  After many others argued pro and con, Ebert corrected some of Haase's claims and again showed that Haase was sloppy with facts.  However, he tried to emphasize two principles.  First, "Wer an der Spitze der Partei steht, hat die Partei zusammenzuhalten.  Das ist das Bebelsche Vermächtnis an uns.  Seine letzte Bitte, die auch Haase kennt, ging dahin."
  He conceded that until now Haase had always done that.  He shrewdly reminded the members of Haase's insistence at pre-war congresses that the minority had to accept discipline.  Second, Ebert claimed "Wenn das geschlossene Auftreten der Partei das Grundgesetz der Partei ist, dann muß der Mann, der an der Spitze steht, zu diesem Grundsatz halten."  Haase replied by setting Ebert straight on two limits Haase had set to unitary action, one being the situation and the other knowledge of the stance of the party members.  The situation had changed since August 4, and no one knew if the party was behind him or not since no party congress was possible.  "Und die Minderheit hat keine Möglichkeit, an die Partei heranzukommen."  In a final rejoinder to Ebert, he added that he would not resign as party chairperson so he could continue to act in the spirit of Bebel "der mit mir auch oft über diese Dinge gesprochen hat.  Mir hat er ans Herz gelegt: Tun Sie alles, damit die Partei nicht diejenigen Bahnen verläßt, auf denen sie groß geworden ist, und die in den Dresdner Beschlüssen aufgezeichnet sind.  Und gerade deshalb handele ich im Bebelschen Sinne, wenn ich gegen Abweichungen von dieser Bahn auftrete."  Both men rightly claimed Bebel's ambivalent inheritance, but dead authorities could not help resolve an irresolvable situation.

In January 1916 Ebert would be elected to replace Haase as one of the chairpersons of the caucus but with only 56 out of 86 votes cast, 27 being left blank.
   As one of the three chairpersons of the caucus executive and co-chairperson of the party executive Ebert had reversed positions with Haase at the top of the party but not under enviable circumstances.

  
Beyond the central institutions the war of words had been fought with an increasing bitterness during 1915.  Not enough is known about how Social Democracy's local and regional party organizations experienced the war and how they related to the party's stance on war credits.
  In 1915 and 1916 the minority tried to organize within the party but encountered military bias and press limitations.
  The whole party suffered a decline in members, finances and subscriptions.  This worried Ebert more than the reformists who threw themselves into the arms of bourgeois politicians without concern for the postwar situation of the party. By the end of the year, when the crucial caucus sessions took the first step towards an open split, meetings were being held throughout the land to sway the members.

Though much more research needs to be done to see how the populace perceived the war and the party, part of the struggle can be traced.  Each side sought in the regional and Reichstag constituency organizations to get support for the majority or minority stance.
  The opposition especially made inroads among youth and women.
  Functionaries were pressed to declare themselves.  In early August 1915, for example, Ebert could get a resolution passed by a meeting of labor functionaries in the Elberfeld-Barmen area by a vote of 72 to 18; when he next appeared in February 1916 he obtained the support of 66 against 49.
  By the end of 1915 most regional organizations had declared themselves for or against war credits, as the secret police knew.
  

Ebert and his colleagues had lost the battle to prevent the opposition from publicly demonstrating disunity in December 1915.  Their commitment to a unitary party front and to the war effort meant they probably could not learn a lesson and become more tolerant.  For instance, the attempt to break the minority hold on Vorwärts illustrated their hard line.
  In the caucus the majority persisted in its intolerance and voted only Scheidemann and Ebert as speakers for the March 24, 1916 Reichstag session.  The minority escalated the tensions when Haase announced at the last moment that he intended to speak in the Reichstag against the emergency budget for which the caucus, including minority members, had agreed to vote.  One observer claimed Haase's egoism played a role in that he could not stand not being caucus chairperson; since reelection became impossible he was creating a new caucus.
  In the Reichstag Haase's action resulted in the spectacle of Social Democratic majority and minority booing and calling each other names.  Ebert apparently joined in to vent his emotions at Haase: "schamloser Kerl. Frecher Halunke".
  

Ebert and the executive majority decided to end the pretence of collegiality that no longer existed. By the time of the special afternoon session of the caucus on March 24, 1916 Ebert had regained his composure and he had made his preparations with a motion condemning Haase for "Treubruch."  The resolution culminated in withdrawal of caucus privileges for those who had broken ranks. Just as in the case of Liebknecht, who had earlier been ousted for putting questions to the Reichstag without caucus approval, the opposition was forced out.  Ebert, who guided the decisive resolution through the meeting, with the support of the majority had helped to split the caucus.

Had he wanted to do so?  No, in early February Ebert and Scheidemann were still searching for a compromise.
  At a session celebrating Ebert's 45th birthday on February 4, which he accidently joined, David found Ebert "starr" against indirect taxes because approving those would affront the minority.  He accused Ebert and his colleagues of seeing everything solely from a narrow party perspective and acting from a fear of losing their majority.
 Ebert, who in February had been in the constituencies, knew the degree of disenchantment with the war.  He had again obtained approval for resolutions condemning the minority's undisciplined acts, but the demands for action against the war had increased.
  
As late as March 20, 1916 Ebert was reconsidering and reflecting on whether he should accept to speak in the Reichstag.  Ebert knew that if he and Scheidemann were delegated that the minority was being silenced.  When Haase was ousted David rightly commented, "Hasse hat sehr ungeschickt operiert."
  He had provoked Ebert and the executive colleagues and made compromise impossible.  The collegial approach to leadership by which the executive had helped bridge factional differences in pre-war Social Democracy collapsed when the leaders ceased to exercise their integrative roles.


Notes

�.	The “predictable pattern” view offered by C. Schorske, The Crisis of German Social Democracy, has been demolished by Miller, Burgfrieden and by Lehnert, despite some pre-war factions continuing into the war.


�.	In the best study on the party during the war, Miller, Burgfrieden, the actions of state officials and SPD’s political opponents have been insufficiently considered, especially for the first part of the war. The present study can only hint at the way that the representatives of the bourgeois parties supported the government's efforts.  The letters by Payer to his wife illustrate well an aspect of the war's political battles, BA NL Payer 43-45, for example Payer 43, letter of December 9, 1915 about how he convinced Scheidemann, David and Landsberg on Reichstag proceedings, or Payer 44, letter of  March 30, 1916 attacking the conservatives and National Liberals because of their pettiness: "Und wir stehen im Weltkrieg und sind im Begriffe, durch eine großzügige Aktion eine schädliche und gefährliche Bewegung aus der Welt zu schaffen". The intentions seems to have been to draw the war-supporting part of the SPD into public institutions and to undermine any critical stance toward the state.  Some state officials followed a similar tact as can be seen in the diary of Oskar Trautmann (Berlin, private possession): "Jedenfalls mussen wir, um die Sozialisten bei der Stange zu halten, nochmals in der Nordeutsche Zeitung was loslassen." (June 23, 1915); among the purposes of Hammann's press releases was "unsere Sozialdemokratie an der Stange zu halten" (July 27, 1915), likewise regarding Parvus' article and government Reichstag statements (August 16, 20 and 21, 1915), the non-SPD press was instructed not to publish the SPD peace interpellation (December 3, 1915).  Trautmann thought that the split of the party caucus was problematic because Bethmann would have to work "den Riß zwischen den beiden Gruppen noch zu vertiefen... Jedenfalls sollte Bethmann dem Haase ein Denkmal bauen. Denn man hat aufgehört, von Tirpitz zu reden, und redet Sozdem." (March, 1916) "Mit Südekum und Jansson das Programm für einen Besuch nordischer Sozialisten in Juli vereinbart." (23 Juni 1916 -- it took place, minutes in Blänsdorf, "Ebert", 375ff).  An approach utilizing such information need not support conspiratorial or manipulative theories but must explore the cooperation of the bourgeois parties with the state to contain, alter or destroy, in Payer’s words, a “gefährliche” movement. Examining this process is what historians have omitted to undertake.  The extensive materials in Hürten's edition of documents on the military have been underutilized.








�. 	One of the few authors who has noted this type of ideological shift is K-L. Rinteln, Gustav Bauer, esp.


�.	In Ebert, Schriften II, 6; he argued the war had created a new situation in which labor had to fight for influence: "Neben dem Einfluß auf die Gesetzgebung mußte Einfluß auf die staatliche Verwaltung errungen werden; wir mußten uns im Staat Raum schaffen gegenüber den alles beherrschenden kapitalistischen Kreisen."


�.	See diary entry 18 January 1916: "wir die einzig moderen, vielleicht wenn zuhause Dummheiten gemacht werden denselben Irrtümern des Westens verfallen, die sich diesem Kriege überlebt haben, dem Parlamentarismus u.s.w. der längst eine Maschine und zwar eine schlechte geworden ist." Riezler, Tagebücher, 325.  In April 1915 Riezler still believed "allgemeines Wahlrecht widerspricht der preußischen Eigenart", see Miller, David Kriegstagebuch, 119.


�.	Miller, Burgfrieden, 254ff has pointed to this surprising relationship between Bethmann and leading Social Democrats but the reasons remain a puzzle. 


�.	See Ebert's diary entries for 4 August 1914 in Buse, "Ebert and Coming", 444-445 and Riezler, Tagebücher, 409.
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�.	Reinhard Schiffers' edition of the Reichstag budget committee offers ample materials to demonstrate the SPD's efforts, Der Hauptausschuß des Deutschen Reichstags 1915-1918 (Düsseldorf, 1981), 4 Vols. Hereafter Schiffers HA. The studies of prominent Social Democrats, especially those on Gustav Noske by Wette, Robert Schmidt by Matthews and Gustav Bauer by Rinteln have made aspects of labor's integration more comprehensible.
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�.	Miller, David Kriegstagebuch, 117-118; at the December 1914 conference in the Haag with neutral-country socialists Ebert had isolated and undercut Haase. 


�.	See above regarding Braun's and Ebert's concern in their report and Müller in federal council, Dowe, PA I 168-69 (30 June 1915); Miller, David Kriegstagebuch, 124 showed no understanding and claimed the "Vorstandsmitglieder fahren fortgesetzt im Lande umher in Dingen zweiter Ordnung (Stuttgart)..." 
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�.	Otto Braun's diary entries focused mostly on executive activities between 11 September and early 1915 show the increasing tension as Haase would not or could not control Vorwärts which was his responsibility in the executive and did not share the national values of most colleagues.  For example he refused to accept that when talking of German troop actions in Belgium what Russians had done in East Prussia had to be mentioned.  By 11 February Braun noted "kam es wieder zu einem erregten Zusammenstoss swischen Ebert und Haase, der in der Sache selbst, um die es sich handelte, nicht begründet war, der vielmehr aus dem gespannten Verhältnis zwischen den beiden zu erklären ist."  However, until spring 1915 collegiality triumphed despite all differences. (Diary made available by Hagen Schulze).
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�.	Scheidemann bitterly recalled how the purpose of the trip was twisted by the opposition in Memoiren I, 274-277 because a journalists' photo would later be disseminated in a misleading way by having Ebert and his colleagues standing about with officers and next to it a picture of Rosa Luxemburg in jail.
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�.	The struggles within the youth central which had functioned well before the war are difficult to recover since the materials in Hiko, NB 564-5 seem to discontinue after the October 1914 conference which decided not to partipate in the military preparations of youth.  In March 1916 a Rundschreiben reaffirmed that stance because the rightwingers continuously reraised this question; printed in Arbeiterjugend 12 March 1916; compare comments from opposition in Elberfelder Freie Presse 14 March 1916 with those from a rightist, Emil Kloth, Dittmanns Enthüllungsschwindel Berlin, 1926, 30. To the council Ebert, who legally continued to be responsible for the youth newspaper and organization, reported the creation of a separate organization by the radicals in March 1916 ( Dowe PA I, 299) and to the party congress [Prot. SPD (1917), 14ff.] the condemnation of any splits at a youth conference on 24 June 1916.  There he pointed out that the Spartacists were not alone in opposition to the youth central.
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�.	Ebert had consulted with the unions immediately after being elected to the caucus executive on how to replace the critical Vorwärts as the party's main newspaper, see Dokumente und Materialien II/1, 307.


�.	Molkenbuhr in RF II, 172.


�.	David, Kriegstagebuch, 168.


�.	See reports in RF II, 170-177; Ebert always tried to set out events and thus influence how members thought and who was in the right.


�.	David, Kriegstagebuch, 157.
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